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Item 1. Financial Statements.

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Contract assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total Current Assets

Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right of use asset

OTHER ASSETS:
Software Development Costs, net
Patents and trademarks, net
Total Other Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

PART I FINANCIAL INFORMATION

DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
(Unaudited)
$ 5374786 $ 56,249
496,807 2,611,608
845,810 1,375,920
698,158 716,598
7,415,561 4,760,375
346,979 260,181
316,726 430,146
10,000 20,000
66,649 61,598
76,649 81,598
$ 8155915 $ 5,532,300
(Continued)



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
(Unaudited)
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 632,043 $§ 2,641,437
Accounts payable - related parties 12,491 12,791
Notes payable - financing agreements 175,796 42,299
Notes payable - related parties, net of discounts — 905,373
Line of credit — 27,615
Payroll taxes payable 10,730 115,111
Accrued expenses 130,798 393,272
Current portion - financing lease agreements 84,635 45,072
Current portion-operating lease obligations 252,907 239,688
Current portion-SBA loan 627,465 —
Contract liabilities 3,283 8,661
Deferred revenue 493,830 936,428
Total Current Liabilities 2,423,978 5,367,747
Finance lease payable 149,314 89,026
Operating lease obligations 74,713 202,797
SBA loan 782,805 —
Total Liabilities 3,430,810 5,659,570
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 authorized, 9,485,000 shares available to be designated
Series A redeemable convertible cumulative preferred stock, $10 stated value per share, 500,000 shares designated; 0 issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, convertible into common stock at $6.30 per share — —
Series B convertible cumulative preferred stock, $1,000 stated value per share, 15,000 shares designated; 1,705 and 1,705 issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, convertible into common stock at $7 per share 1,705,000 1,705,000
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 500,000,000 shares authorized, 3,527,470 and 1,982,039 shares issued, 3,526,146 and 1,980,715 shares
outstanding at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 3,528 1,982
Additional paid-in capital 39,527,682 31,063,915
Total stock & paid-in-capital 41,236,210 32,770,897
Accumulated deficit (36,353,653)  (32,740,715)
Sub-total 4,882,557 30,182
Less: Treasury stock (1,324 shares of common stock at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019) (157,452) (157,452)
Total Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) 4,725,105 (127,270)
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit) $ 8155915 § 5,532,300

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
For the Three Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

REVENUES:

Technology systems $ 1,419,409 § 984,991 $ 1,933,083 $ 4,903,429

Technical support 382,124 280,601 727,311 602,075

Consulting services 2,385 80,213 134,469 192,382

Al technologies 178,224 — 178,224 —

Total Revenues 1,982,142 1,345,805 2,973,087 5,697,386
COST OF REVENUES:

Technology systems 897,514 967,649 1,479,058 3,060,643

Technical support 234,754 156,341 469,030 261,665

Consulting services — 47,415 72,260 70,334

Al technologies 110,499 — 110,499 —

Total Cost of Revenues 1,242,767 1,171,405 2,130,847 3,392,642
GROSS PROFIT 739,375 174,400 842,240 2,305,244
OPERATING EXPENSES:

Research and development 149,566 487,738 555,958 871,160

Engineering 352,970 289,986 665,406 624,549

Sales & marketing 122,473 270,196 262,325 520,620

Administration 1,023,947 872,972 2,039,498 1,807,645

Al technologies 517,475 202,673 834,024 383,986

Total Operating Expenses 2,166,431 2,123,565 4,357,211 4,207,960
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS (1,427,056) (1,949,165) (3,514,971) (1,902,716)
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):

Interest Expense (58,243) (3,692) (127,175) (6,313)

Other income, net 19,410 3,066 29,208 3,407

Total Other Income (Expense) (38,833) (626) (97,967) (2,906)
NET LOSS (1,465,889) (1,949,791) (3,612,938) (1,905,622)
Basic & Diluted Net Loss Per Share $ (042) $ (1.09) § (1.16) $ (1.14)
Weighted Average Shares-Basic & Diluted 3,526,382 1,788,659 3,106,660 1,665,439

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.



Balance December 31, 2019
Common stock issued

Stock options granted to employees
Stock issuance costs

Common stock issued for services

Net loss for the three months ended
March 31, 2020

Balance March 31, 2020

Modification of employee stock options

Stock options granted to employees
Common stock issued for services

Net loss for the three months ended
June 30, 2020

Balance June 30, 2020

DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
For the Three Months and Six Months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(Unaudited)
Additional
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in- Accumulated
# of Shares Amount # of Shares Amount Capital Deficit Treasury Stock Total
1,705 $ 1,705,000 1,982,039 $ 1,982 $ 31,063,915 § (32,740,715) $§  (157,452) $ (127,270)
— — 1,542,188 1,542 9,251,586 — — 9,253,128
— — — — 8,100 — — 8,100
— — — — (1,001,885) — — (1,001,885)
— — 1,611 2 7,498 — — 7,500
— — — — — (2,147,049) — (2,147,049)
1,705 1,705,000 3,525,838 3,526 39,329,214 (34,887,764) (157,452) 5,992,524
— — — — 102,800 — — 102,800
— — — — 88,170 — — 88,170
— — 1,632 2 7,498 — — 7,500
— — — — — (1,465,889) — (1,465,889)
1,705 $ 1,705,000 3,527,470 $ 3,528 § 39,527,682 $ (36,353,653) §  (157,452) $ 4,725,105

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. SUBSIDIARIES
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) (CONTINUED)
For the Three Months and Six Months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(Unaudited)
Additional
Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-in- Accumulated Treasury
# of Shares Amount # of Shares Amount Capital Deficit Stock Total

Balance December 31, 2018 2,830 $ 2,830,000 1,505,883 §$ 1,505 $ 27,416,802 $ (30,269,833) $  (149,459) $ (170,985)
Commons stock issued for warrants

exercised — — 214,286 214 1,649,786 — — 1,650,000
Stock options granted to employees — — — — 21,892 — — 21,892
Net Income for the three months ended

March 31, 2019 — — — — — 44,169 — 44,169
Balance March 31, 2019 2,830 2,830,000 1,720,169 1,719 29,088,480 (30,225,664) (149,459) 1,545,076
Commons stock issued for warrants

exercised — — 76,634 77 513,943 — — 514,020
Stock repurchase — — — — — — (1,151) (1,151)
Stock options granted to employees — — — — 6,241 — — 6,241
Stock issuance cost — — — — (10,000) — — (10,000)
Net loss for the three months ended

June 30, 2019 — — — — — (1,949,791) — (1,949,791)
Balance June 30, 2019 2,830 $ 2,830,000 1,796,803 § 1,796 $ 29,598,664 $ (32,175,455) $  (150,610) $ 104,395

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.



Cash from operating activities:
Net loss

DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Stock based compensation

Modification of employee stock options
Interest expense related to debt discounts

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Contract assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Operating lease right of use asset
Accounts payable
Related payable-related party
Payroll taxes payable
Accrued expenses
Operating lease obligation
Contract liabilities
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of patents/trademarks
Purchase of fixed assets

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchase of common stock
Repayments of line of credit
Issuance cost
Repayments of notes payable

Repayments of insurance and equipment financing

Repayment of finance lease

Proceeds from SBA loan
Proceeds from equipment leasing
Proceeds from common stock issued
Proceeds from warrants exercised

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Interest paid

Supplemental Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Common stock issued for accrued BOD fees

Lease right of use asset and liability

Note issued for financing of insurance premiums

See accompanying condensed notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

For the Six Months Ended

June 30,

2020

2019

$ (3,612,938) $ (1,905,622)

97,353 87,325
96,270 28,133
102,800 —
94,627 —

2,114,802 (302,986)
530,110 904,543
235,194 86,411
113,419 (565,925)
(2,009,394) (519,468)
(300) —
(104,381) (196,609)
(247,474) 15,671
(114,865) 592,402
(5,378)  (1,170,197)
(442,598) 234,988
(3,152,753)  (2,711,334)
(7,735) (3,000)
(171,467) (223,549)
(179,202) (226,549)
— (1,151)
(27,615) (2,497)
(1,001,885) (10,000)
(1,000,000) -
(83,257) (141,105)
(21,786) -
1,410,270 —
121,637 -
9,253,128 —
— 2,164,019
3,650,492 2,009,266
5,318,537 (928,617)
56,249 1,209,301
5,374,786 280,684

S 29830 $ 4,109

$ 15,000 $ —

S 644245 —

$ 216754 $ 217,804




DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Duos Technologies Group, Inc. (the “duostech Group”), through its operating subsidiaries, Duos Technologies, Inc. (“duostech”) and TrueVue360, Inc (“TrueVue360”,
duostech Group and duostech, collectively the “Company”) is primarily engaged in the design and deployment of state-of-the-art, artificial intelligence driven intelligent
technologies systems. duostech converges traditional security measures with information technologies to create “actionable intelligence.” duostech’s IP is built upon two of its
core technology platforms (praesidium® and centraco®), both distributed as licensed software suites, and natively embedded within engineered turnkey systems. praesdium®
is a modular suite of analytics applications which process and simultaneously analyze data streams from a virtually unlimited number of conventional sensors and/or data points.
Native algorithms compare analyzed data against user-defined criteria and rules in real time and automatically report any exceptions, deviations and/or anomalies. This
application suite also includes a broad range of conventional operational system components and sub-systems, including an embedded feature-rich video management engine
and a proprietary Alarm Management Service (AMS). This unique service provides continuous monitoring of all connected devices, processes, equipment and sub-systems, and
automatically communicates to the front end-user interface, if and when an issue, event or performance anomalies are detected. centraco® is a comprehensive user interface that
includes the functionalities of a Physical Security Information Management (PSIM) system as well as those of an Enterprise Information System (EIS). This multi-layered
interface can be securely installed as a stand-alone application suite inside a local area network or pushed outside a wide area network using the same browser-based interface.
It leverages industry standards for data security, access, and encryption as appropriate. The platform also operates as a cloud-hosted solution.

The Company provides a broad range of sophisticated intelligent technology solutions with an emphasis on security, inspection and operations for critical infrastructure within a
variety of industries including transportation, retail, law enforcement, oil, gas and utilities sectors. In January 2019, the Company launched a dedicated Artificial Intelligence
software platform, truevue360™, through its subsidiary TrueVue360 with the objective of focusing the Company’s advanced intelligent technologies in the areas of Artificial
Intelligent, Deep Machine Learning and Advance Algorithms to further support our business growth. Consequently, our business operations are now in three business units:
intelligent technologies, Al/machine learning platforms and IT asset management.

The Company’s strategy includes expansion of its technology base through organic development efforts, strategic partnerships, and growth through accretive acquisitions. The
Company provides its broad range of technology solutions with an emphasis on mission critical security, inspection and operations within the rail transportation, commercial,
petrochemical, government, and banking sectors. The Company also offers professional and consulting services for large data centers.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim
financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 8 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by
U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (all of which are of a normal recurring nature) considered necessary for a fair
presentation have been included. Operating results for the six months ended June 30, 2020 are not indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December
31, 2020 or for any other future period. These unaudited consolidated financial statements and the unaudited condensed notes thereto should be read in conjunction with the
audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 30, 2020.

Reverse Stock-Split

All share and per share amounts have been presented to give retroactive effect to a 1 for 14 reverse stock-split that occurred in January 2020.



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

Reclassifications

The Company reclassified certain operating expenses for the three and six months ended June 20, 2019 to conform to 2020 classification. There was no net effect on the total
operating expenses of such reclassification.

The following table reflects the reclassification adjustment effect in the three and six months ended June 30, 2019:

Before Reclassification After Reclassification
For the Three Months Ended For the Three Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2019

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling and marketing expenses $ 128,506 Sales and marketing $ 270,196
Salaries, wages and contract

labor 1,338,302 Engineering 289,986
Research and development 118,435 Research and development 487,738
Professional fees 17,054 Al technologies 202,673
General and administrative

expenses 521,268  Administration 872,972
Total Operating Expenses $ 2,123,565 $ 2,123,565

Before Reclassification After Reclassification
For the Six Months Ended For the Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2019

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Selling and marketing expenses $ 238,122  Sales and marketing $ 520,620
Salaries, wages and contract

labor 2,607,081 Engineering 624,549
Research and development 231,129 Research and development 871,160
Professional fees 144,973 Al technologies 383,986
General and administrative

expenses 986,655 Administration 1,807,645
Total Operating Expenses $ 4,207,960 $ 4,207,960

Principles of Consolidation

The unaudited consolidated financial statements include duostech Group and its wholly owned subsidiaries, Duos Technologies, Inc. and TrueVue360, Inc. All inter-company
transactions and balances are eliminated in consolidation.



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The most significant estimates in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements include the allowance on accounts receivable, valuation of deferred tax assets, valuation of intangible and other long-lived assets, estimates of
net contract revenues and the total estimated costs to determine progress towards contract completion, valuation of derivatives, valuation of warrants issued with debt, valuation
of beneficial conversion features in convertible debt, estimates of the valuation of right of use assets and corresponding lease liabilities and valuation of stock-based awards. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Concentrations
Cash Concentrations

Cash is maintained at financial institutions and at times, balances may exceed federally insured limits. We have not experienced any losses related to these balances. As of June
30, 2020, balance in one financial institution exceeded federally insured limits by approximately $4,952,107.

Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company had certain customers whose revenue individually represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue, or whose accounts receivable balances individually
represented 10% or more of the Company’s total accounts receivable, as follows:

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, three customers accounted for 45%, 15% and 12% of revenues. For the six months ended June 30, 2019two customers accounted for
69% and 12% of revenues.

At June 30, 2020, four customers accounted for 41%, 32%, 10% and 10% of accounts receivable. At December 31, 2019,two customers accounted for 68% and 10% of
accounts receivable.

Geographic Concentration
Approximately 29% of revenue is generated from three customers outside of the United States.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

We measure our financial assets and liabilities in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. For certain of our financial instruments, including cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approximate fair value due to their short maturities. Amounts recorded for notes
payable, net of discount, and loans payable also approximate fair value because current interest rates available to us for debt with similar terms and maturities are substantially
the same.

We follow accounting guidance for financial assets and liabilities. This standard defines fair value, provides guidance for measuring fair value and requires certain disclosures.
This standard does not require any new fair value measurements, but rather applies to all other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. This
guidance does not apply to measurements related to share-based payments. This guidance discusses valuation techniques, such as the market approach (comparable market
prices), the income approach (present value of future income or cash flow), and the cost approach (cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or replacement cost).



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

The guidance utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels. The following is a brief
description of those three levels:

Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs, other than quoted prices that are observable, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets and
quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore developed using estimates and assumptions developed by us, which reflect those that a
market participant would use.

Software Development Costs

Software development costs incurred prior to establishing technological feasibility are charged to operations and included in research and development costs. The technological
feasibility of a software product is established when the Company has completed all planning, designing, coding, and testing activities that are necessary to establish that the
product meets its design specifications, including functionality, features, and technical performance requirements. Software development costs incurred after establishing
technological feasibility for software sold as a perpetual license, as defined within ASC 985-20 (Software — Costs of Software to be sold, Leased, or Marketed) are capitalized
and amortized on a product-by-product basis when the product is available for general release to customers.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are computed by dividing net loss applicable to common stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted net loss
per common share is computed by dividing the net loss applicable to common stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period and, if
dilutive, potential common shares outstanding during the period. Potential common shares consist of the incremental common shares issuable upon the exercise of stock
options, stock warrants, convertible debt instruments, convertible preferred stock or other common stock equivalents. Potentially dilutive securities are excluded from the
computation if their effect is anti-dilutive. At June 30, 2020, there was an aggregate of 1,588,750 outstanding warrants to purchase shares of common stock. At June 30, 2020,
there was an aggregate of 311,898 shares of employee stock options to purchase shares of common stock. Also, at June 30, 2020, 243,571 common shares were issuable upon
conversion of Series B convertible preferred stock, all of which were excluded from the computation of dilutive earnings per share because their inclusion would have been
anti-dilutive.

Revenue Recognition

As of January 1, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), that affects the timing of
when certain types of revenues will be recognized. The basic principles in ASC 606 include the following: a contract with a customer creates distinct unrecognized contract
assets and performance obligations; satisfaction of a performance obligation creates revenue; and a performance obligation is satisfied upon transfer of control to a good or
service to a customer.

Revenue is recognized for sales of systems and services over time using cost-based input methods, in which significant judgement is required to evaluate assumptions including
the amount of net contract revenues and the total estimated costs to determine our progress towards contract completion and to calculate the corresponding amount of revenue to
recognize.

Revenue is recognized by evaluating our revenue contracts with customers based on the five-step model under ASC 606:

Identify the contract with the customer;

Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

Determine the transaction price;

Allocate the transaction price to separate performance obligations; and
Recognize revenue when (or as) each performance obligations are satisfied.

SIS
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DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

Accordingly, the Company now bases its revenue recognition on ASC 606-10-25-27, where control of a good or service transfers over time if the entity’s performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date including a profit margin or reasonable
return on capital. Control is deemed to pass to the customer instantaneously as the goods are manufactured and revenue is recognized accordingly.

In addition, the Company has adopted ASC 606-10-55-21 such that if the cost incurred is not proportionate to the progress in satisfying the performance obligation, we adjust
the input method to recognize revenue only to the extent of the cost incurred. Therefore, the Company will recognize revenue at an equal amount to the cost of the goods to
satisfy the performance obligation. To accurately reflect revenue recognition based on the input method, the Company has adopted the implementation guidance as set out in
ASC-606-10-55-187 through 192. (see Note 9)

Segment Information

The Company operates in one reportable segment.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718-10, “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options, restricted stock units, and employee stock
purchases based on estimated fair values.

Determining Fair Value Under ASC 718-10

The Company estimates the fair value of stock options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing formula. This fair value is then amortized on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service periods of the awards, which is generally the vesting period. The Company’s determination of fair value using an option-pricing model is affected by the stock
price as well as assumptions regarding the number of highly subjective variables.

The Company estimates volatility based upon the historical stock price of the Company and estimates the expected term for employee stock options using the simplified method

for employees and directors and the contractual term for non-employees. The risk-free rate is determined based upon the prevailing rate of United States Treasury securities with
similar maturities.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, the FASB or other standards setting bodies will issue new accounting pronouncements. Updates to the FASB ASC are communicated through issuance of an
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”).

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective accounting pronouncements, if adopted, would have a material effect on the accompanying
financial statements.

NOTE 2 - LIQUIDITY
As reflected in the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements, the Company had a net loss of $3,612,938 for the six months ended June 30, 2020. During the
same period, net cash used in operating activities was $3,152,753 The working capital surplus and accumulated deficit as of June 30, 2020 were $4,991,582 and $36,353,653

respectively. In previous financial reports, the Company had raised substantial doubt about continuing as a going concern. This was principally due to a lack of working capital
prior to an underwritten offering which was completed during the first quarter of 2020 (the “2020 Offering”).

11



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Upon completion of the 2020 Offering, management raised sufficient working capital to meet its needs for the next 12-months without the need to raise further capital. Since
the advent of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Company has experienced a significant slowdown in closing new projects due to cautious actions by current and potential clients. We
continue to be successful in identifying new business opportunities and are focused on re-establishing a backlog of projects. Most importantly, the Company’s success in
increasing its working capital surplus after receiving proceeds from the 2020 Offering of more than $8.1 million has given us the runway required to maintain our business
strategy overall. Management has been and continues to take actions including, but not limited to, elimination of certain costs that did not contribute to short term revenue, re-
aligning management with a focus on improving certain skill sets necessary to build growth and profitability and focusing product strategy on opportunities that are likely to
bear results in the relatively short term.

Management believes that we have eliminated the substantial doubt for the Company to continue as a going concern. We are executing the plan to grow our business and
achieve profitability without the requirement to raise additional capital for existing operations. In the long run, the continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent
upon the ability of the Company to continue executing the plan described above, generate sufficient revenue and to attain consistently profitable operations. Although the
current global pandemic related to the Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) has affected our operations, and we do believe this is expected to be a long-term issue, the Company
cannot currently quantify the uncertainty related to the recent pandemic and its effects on the business in the coming quarters. We have analyzed our cash flow under “stress
test” conditions and have determined that we have sufficient liquid assets on hand to maintain operations for at least 12 months from the date of this report.

NOTE 3 - SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

In 2018, the Company capitalized $60,000, relating to the development of new software products. These software products were developed by a third-party and had passed the
preliminary project stage prior to capitalization. Software development costs consisted of the following at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019:

June 30, December 31,
2020 2019
Software Development Costs $ 60,000 $ 60,000
Less: Accumulated amortization (50,000) (40,000)
Total $ 10,000 $ 20,000
Amortization expense of software development costs for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, was $10,000 and $10,000, respectively.
NOTE 4 - DEBT
Notes Payable - Financing Agreements
The Company’s notes payable relating to financing agreements classified as current liabilities consist of the following as of:
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019

Notes Payable Principal Interest Principal Interest
Third Party - Insurance Note 1 $ 8,662 731% $ 28,500 7.31%
Third Party - Insurance Note 2 41,282 5.26% — 6.36%
Third Party - Insurance Note 3 1,656 —% 13,799 —
Third Party - Insurance Note 4 124,196 — — 6.36%
Total $ 175,796 $ 42,299

The Company entered into an agreement on December 23, 2019 with its insurance provider by issuing a $28,500 note payable (Insurance Note 1) for the purchase of an
insurance policy, secured by that policy with an annual interest rate of 7.31% payable in monthly installments of principal and interest totaling $2,218 through October 23,
2020. The balance of Insurance Note 1 as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $8,662 and $28,500, respectively.
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The Company entered into an agreement on April 15, 2019 in the amount of $51,940 with an annual interest rate of 6.36% payable (Insurance Note 2) with monthly
installments of principal and interest totaling $5,326 through December 15, 2019 and the Company renewed the policy on April 15, 2020 in the amount of $51,379 with an
annual interest rate of 5.26% payable in monthly installments of principal and interest totaling $5,263 through December 15, 2020. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
the balance of Insurance Note 2 was $41,282 and zero, respectively.

The Company entered into an agreement on September 15, 2019 in the amount of $13,799 with its insurance provider by issuing a note payable (Insurance Note 3) for the
purchase of an insurance policy, secured by 5 installment payments. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance of Insurance Note 3 was $1,656 and $13,799,
respectively.

The Company entered into an agreement on February 3, 2019 in the amount of $141,058 with an annual interest rate of 6.36% payable in monthly installments of principal and
interest totaling $14,520 (Insurance Note 4) through December 3, 2019. The policy renewed on February 3, 2020 in the amount of $165,375 with seven monthly installments of
$13,726. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance of Insurance Note 4 was $124,196 and zero, respectively.

Finance Lease

The Company entered into an agreement on August 26, 2019 with an equipment leasing provider by issuing a $147,810 equipment finance lease payable, secured by a note, with
an annual interest rate of 12.72% payable in monthly installments of principal and interest totaling $4,963 through August 1, 2022. The Company entered into an additional
agreement on May 22, 2020 with same equipment leasing provider by issuing a $121,637 equipment finance lease payable, secured by a note, with an annual interest rate of
9.90% payable in monthly installments of principal and interest totaling $3,919 through June 1, 2023. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the balance of the notes was
$233,949 and zero, respectively.

At June 30, 2020, future minimum lease payments due under Finance Lease is as follows:

As of December 31, Amount
2020 $ 53,331
2021 106,588
2022 86,735
2023 23,515
Total minimum financial lease payments $ 270,169
Less: interest (36,220)
Total lease liability at June 30, 2020 $ 233,949
Less: current portion of Finance Lease (84,635)
Long Term portion of Finance Lease $ 149,314
Notes Payable — Related Parties
June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Payable To Principal Interest Principal Interest
Related party $ — 3% $ 267,000 3%
Related party — 3% 733,000 3%
Total — 1,000,000
Less unamortized discounts — (94,627)
Total, net $ — $ 905,373

The Company entered into an agreement with a related party on September 25, 2019 whereby the related party loaned the Company the aggregate principal amount of $267,000,
pursuant to a note, repayable on June 25, 2020. The note carries an annual interest rate of 3%. In addition, the Company issued warrants permitting the related party to purchase
for cash 11,920 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $7.70 per share. On June 22, 2020 the Company repaid this short-term note in the amount of $267,000.
The balance of this note as of June 30, 2020 was zero.
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The Company entered into an agreement with a related party on September 25, 2019 whereby the related party loaned the Company the principal aggregate in the amount of
$733,000, pursuant to a note, repayable on June 25, 2020. The note carries an annual interest rate of 3% per annum. In addition, the Company issued warrants permitting the
related party to purchase for cash 32,724 shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $7.70 per share. On June 22, 2020 the Company repaid this short-term note in the
amount of $733,000. The balance of this note as of June 30, 2020 was zero.

The Company determined the relative fair value between the notes and the warrants on the issue date utilizing the Bi-nominal Lattice Pricing Model for the warrants. As a
result, the Company allocated $146,779 to the warrants and was recorded as a debt discount with an offset to additional paid in capital in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements. The fair value pricing model used the following assumptions; stock price $7.00, warrant exercise price $7.70, expected term of 5 years,
expected volatility of 86% and discount rate of 1.609%.

For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded $94,627 for amortization of the debt discount discussed above to interest expense in the accompanying
unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Notes Payable
The Company entered into an agreement on August 12, 2019 with a shareholder by executing a short-term $262,500 note repayable on November 11, 2019. This note was

issued with a 5% original issue discount and the Company received a net amount of $250,000. No other consideration was given. On November 12, 2019, the Company repaid
this short-term note in the amount of $262,500. The original issue discount of $12,500 was fully amortized in 2019.

Notes Payable — SBA Loan

June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Payable To Principal Interest Principal Interest*
SBA loan $ 1,410,270 1% $ —
Total 1,410,270 —
Less current portion (627,465) —
Long term portion $§ 782,805 $ —

On April 23, 2020, the Company entered into a promissory note (the “Note”) with BBVA USA, which provides for a loan in the amount of $1,410,270 (the “Loan”) pursuant to
the Paycheck Protection Program (the “PPP”) under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). The Loan has a two-year term and bears
interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum (APR 1.014%). Monthly principal and interest payments are deferred for six months after the date of disbursement. The Loan may be
prepaid at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. The Company will apply for the PPP loan forgiveness as soon as the application is available.

NOTE 5 - LINE OF CREDIT

The Company assumed a line of credit with Wells Fargo Bank upon merger with ISA on April 1, 2015. The line of credit provided for borrowings up to $40,000 but is now
closed to future borrowing. The balance as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, was zero and $27,615, respectively, including accrued interest. This line of credit has been
paid in full as of May 5, 2020.

NOTE 6 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Delinquent Payroll Taxes Payable

As of the date hereof, the Company has paid its delinquent payroll taxes and late fees in full. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the payroll taxes payable balance of
$10,730 and $115,111 includes accrued late fees in the amount of zero and $37,210, respectively.
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Operating Lease Obligations

The Company has an operating lease agreement for office space of approximately 8,308 square feet that was amended on May 1, 2016 and again on April 1, 2019, increasing
the office space to approximately 10,203 square feet, with the lease ending on October 31, 2021. The rent is subject to an annual escalation of 3%, beginning May 1, 2017.

The Company entered a new lease agreement of office and warehouse combination space of approximately 4,400 square feet on June 1, 2018 and ending May 31, 2021. This
additional space allows for resource growth and engineering efforts for operations before deploying to the field. The rent is subject to an annual escalation of 3%.

The Company now has a total of office and warehouse space of approximately 14,603 square feet.

At June 30, 2020, future minimum lease payments due under Operating Leases are as follows:

As of December 31, Amount

2020 $ 141,396

2021 213,568
Total minimum financial lease payments $ 354,964
Less: interest (27,344)
Total lease liability at June 30, 2020 $ 327,620
Less: current portion of Operating lease obligations (252,907)
Long Term portion of Operating lease obligations $ 74,713

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires all leases with a term greater than 12 months to be recognized on
the balance sheet, while lease expenses would continue to be recognized in the statement of operations in a manner similar to current accounting guidance. We adopted ASU
2016-02 effective January 1, 2019, on a modified retrospective basis, without adjusting comparative periods presented. Effective January 1, 2019, the Company established a
right-of-use model (ROU) asset and operating lease liability in the amount of $644,245. The right of use asset balance at June 30, 2020 was $316,726, the operating lease
liability — current portion was $252,907 and the operating lease liability — long term portion was $74,713. This is the Company’s only lease whose term is greater than 12
months. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 did not materially affect our unaudited consolidated statement of operations or our unaudited consolidated statements of cash flows. We
made an accounting policy election to keep leases with an initial term of 12 months or less off the balance sheet and to recognize all lease payments for leases with a term
greater than 12 months on a straight-line basis over the lease term in our unaudited consolidated statements of operations.

NOTE 7 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common stock issued

On February 12, 2020, Duos Technologies Group, Inc., a Florida corporation (the “Company”) entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with
ThinkEquity, a division of Fordham Financial Management, Inc. (“ThinkEquity”), as representative of the underwriters listed therein (the “Underwriters”), pursuant to which the
Company agreed to sell to the Underwriters in a firm commitment underwritten public offering (the “Offering”) an aggregate of 1,350,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”), at a public offering price of $6.00 per share. In addition, the Underwriters were granted an over-allotment option (the
“Over-allotment Option”) for a period of 45 days to purchase up to an additional 202,500 shares of Common Stock. The Offering closed on February 18, 2020. The Common
Stock began trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol DUOT on February 13, 2020.

On February 20, 2020, pursuant to and in compliance with the terms and conditions of the aforementioned Underwriting Agreement and the Offering, the Underwriters provided

notice that they would partially exercise the Over-allotment Option to purchase 192,188 shares of Common Stock at $6.00 per share (the “Over-Allotment Exercise”). The sale
of the Over-Allotment Exercise to purchase 192,188 shares of Common Stock closed on February 21, 2020.
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In total, the Company issued 1,542,188 shares of common stock in connection with these underwritten public offerings and up listing to the Nasdaq Capital Market national
exchange. The securities were issued pursuant to a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 235455), as amended, which was declared effective by the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission on February 12, 2020 (the “Registration Statement”). The Company received gross proceeds of approximately $9.25 million for the
Offering to date, including the exercise of the Over-Allotment Exercise, prior to deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by the
Company.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense recognized under ASC 718-10 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, was $199,070 and $28,133, respectively, for stock options
granted to employees and directors. This expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the unaudited consolidated statements of operations. Stock-based
compensation expense recognized during the period is based on the value of the portion of share-based payment awards that is ultimately expected to vest during the period. At
June 30, 2020, the total compensation cost for stock options not yet recognized was $282,142. This cost will be recognized over the remaining vesting term of the options of
approximately one year.

Employee Stock Options

A maximum of 178,572 shares were made available for grant under the 2016 Plan, as amended, and all outstanding options under the Plan provide a cashless exercise feature.
The maximum number of shares was increased by shareholder approval to 321,429. The identification of individuals entitled to receive awards, the terms of the awards, and the
number of shares subject to individual awards, are determined by our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, at their sole discretion. The aggregate number of
shares with respect to which options or stock awards may be granted under the 2016 Plan and the purchase price per share, if applicable, shall be adjusted for any increase or
decrease in the number of issued shares resulting from a stock dividend, stock split, reverse stock split, recapitalization or similar event.

During the quarter, the Company’s Board of Directors granted 310,290 new stock options with strike prices ranging from $4.74 to $6.00 per share to Employees, Officers and
Directors. 161,402 existing options were cancelled due to modifications to the exercise price and term. As of June 30, 2020, and December 31, 2019, options to purchase
311,898 shares of common stock and 163,010 shares of common stock were outstanding under the 2016 Plan, respectively.

The Company has no expired employee stock options under the 2016 Plan at June 30, 2020 and 2019.

‘Weighted

‘Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term (Years) Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 160,143 $ 14.00 4.4 —
Granted 8,572 § 14.00 5.0 —
Forfeited (14,286) $ 14.00 — —
Outstanding at June 30, 2019 154,429 § 14.00 34 —
Exercisable at June 30, 2019 145,857 § 14.00 34 —
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 163,010 $ 14.00 34 —
Granted 310,290 $ 5.39 4.8 —
Cancelled/forfeited (161,402) $ 14.00 — —
Outstanding at June 30, 2020 311,898 § 5.46 4.7 —
Exercisable at June 30, 2020 162,474 $ 6.08 4.7 —

On January 29, 2019, the Board of Directors appointed a new independent director and Chairman of the Compensation Committee. As a result of the appointment, the new
director was granted 8,572 stock options exercisable at $14.00 per share vesting one year from the date of grant. On March 31, 2019, the President and Chief Operating Officer
of Duos Technologies Inc., resigned from her positions. Due to the resignation, the individual forfeited 14,286 stock options previously granted. On August 15, 2019, the Board
of Directors appointed a new independent director and Chairman of the Audit Committee. As a result of the appointment, the new director was granted 8,572 stock options
exercisable at $14.00 per share vesting one year from the date of grant.
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On April 1, 2020 the Board of Directors cancelled 161,402 options previously granted to existing employees and granted 310,290 options, of which 160,866 were replaced with
new options carrying a $6.00 exercise price, 536 options were forfeited and a further 149,424 options were issued to existing employees, officers and directors carrying a $4.74
strike price with a vesting period ranging from 9 months to 21 months. The new stock options issued have a fair value of $370,312, with stock option compensation expense this
quarter in the amount of $88,170 and a balance of unamortized stock option compensation expense of $282,142, that will be expensed over the next 1.75 years. The options that
were cancelled and replaced were accounted for by valuing the original options on the day before they were cancelled and valuing the new options on the day of issuance. The
inputs used were a stock price of $4.74 on the day of cancellation and $4.70 on the day of issuance, expected term of 2.5 years, expected volatility of 81%, no anticipated
dividend and a dividend rate of $0.255%. The difference between the valuations were recorded as one-time option expense given that options cancelled were already vested and
the replacement options were immediately vested. The one-time expense for this cancellation and issuance was $102,800. The strike price of the cancelled options was $14.00.

Warrants

The following is a summary of activity for warrants to purchase common stock for the six months ended June 30, 2020:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Warrants Price Term (Years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 1,815,182 $ 9.52 3.9
Warrants expired, forfeited, cancelled or exercised (327,612)
Outstanding at June 30, 2019 1,487,570 § 8.78 2.8
Exercisable at June 30, 2019 1,487,570 $ 8.78 2.3
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 1,521,250 $ 8.78 3.0
Warrants expired, forfeited, cancelled or exercised =
Warrants issued 67,500 $ 9.00 2.6
Outstanding at June 30, 2020 1,588,750 § 8.79 4.8
Exercisable at June 30, 2020 1,521,250 § 841 2.7

Warrants issued were for the underwriters of the registered direct offering completed in the first quarter of 2020. They carry a strike price of $9.00 representing 150% of the

offering price of $6.00 per share and vest 6 months after completion of the offering.

NOTE 8 - REVENUE

Revenue Recognition and Contract Accounting

The Company generates revenue from four sources: (1) Technology Systems; (2) Technical Support; (3) Consulting Services and (4) Al Technology.

The Company constructs intelligent technology systems consisting of materials and labor under customer contracts. Revenues and related costs on technology systems revenue
are recognized based on ASC 606-10-25-27, where control of a good or service transfers over time if the entity’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the entity and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date including a profit margin or reasonable return on capital. Control is deemed to
pass to the customer instantaneously as the goods are manufactured and revenue is recognized accordingly.

In addition, the Company has adopted ASC 606-10-55-21 such that if the cost incurred is not proportionate to the progress in satisfying the performance obligation, we adjust
the input method to recognize revenue only to the extent of the cost incurred. Therefore, the Company will recognize revenue at an equal amount to the cost of the goods to
satisfy the performance obligation. To accurately reflect revenue recognition based on the input method, the Company has adopted the implementation guidance as set out in
ASC 606-10-55-187 through 192.

17



DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

Under this method, contract revenues are recognized over the performance period of the contract in direct proportion to the costs incurred. Costs include direct material, direct
labor, subcontract labor and other allocable indirect costs. All un-allocable indirect costs and corporate general and administrative costs are also charged to the periods as
incurred. Any recognized revenues that have not been billed to a customer are recorded as an asset in “contract assets”. Any billings of customers more than recognized
revenues are recorded as a liability in “contract liabilities”. However, in the event a loss on a contract is foreseen, the Company will recognize the loss when such loss is
determined.

Contract Assets

Contract assets on uncompleted contracts represents costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings and/or cash received on uncompleted contracts accounted for under the
input method, which recognizes revenue only to the extent of the cost incurred.

At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, contract assets on uncompleted contracts consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31.
2020 2019
Costs and estimated earnings recognized $ 3,663,654 $ 3,700,124
Less: Billings or cash received (2,817,844)  (2,324,204)

Contract assets $ 845810 $ 1,375,920

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities on uncompleted contracts represents billings and/or cash received that exceed accumulated revenues recognized on uncompleted contracts accounted for
under the input method, which recognizes revenue only to the extent of the cost incurred.

At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, contract liabilities on uncompleted contracts consisted of the following:

June 30, December 31.
2020 2019
Billings and/or cash receipts on uncompleted contracts $ 3,283 $ 35,665
Less: Costs and estimated earnings recognized (—) (27,004)
Contract liabilities $ 3283 $ 8,661

A contract is considered complete when all costs except insignificant items have been incurred and the installation is operating according to specifications or has been accepted
by the customer.

The Company has contracts in various stages of completion. Such contracts require estimates to determine the appropriate cost and revenue recognition. Costs estimates are
reviewed periodically on a contract-by-contract basis throughout the life of the contract such that adjustments to the profit resulting from revisions are made cumulative to the
date of the revision. Significant management judgments and estimates, including the estimated costs to complete projects, must be made and used in connection with the revenue
recognized in the accounting period. Current estimates may be revised as additional information becomes available.
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Technical Support

Maintenance and technical support services are provided on both an as-needed and extended-term basis and may include providing both parts and labor. Maintenance and
technical support provided outside of a maintenance contract are on an as-requested basis, and revenue is recognized as the services are provided. Revenue for maintenance and
technical support provided on an extended-term basis is recognized ratably over the term of the contract.

For sales arrangements that do not involve multiple elements such as professional services, which are of short-term duration, revenues are recognized when services are
completed.

Consulting Services

The Company’s consulting services business generates revenues under contract with customers from three sources: (1) Professional Services (consulting and auditing); (2)
Software licensing with optional hardware sales; and (3) Customer Service (training and maintenance support).

For sales arrangements that do not involve performance obligations:

(1)  Revenues for professional services, which are of short-term duration, are recognized when services are completed;

(2) For all periods reflected in this report, software license sales have been one-time sales of a perpetual license to use our software product and the customer also has
the option to purchase third-party manufactured handheld devices from us if they purchase our software license. Accordingly, the revenue is recognized upon
delivery of the software and delivery of the hardware, as applicable, to the customer;

(3) Training sales are one-time upfront short-term training sessions and are recognized after the service has been performed; and

(4) Maintenance/support is an optional product sold to our software license customers under one-year contracts. Accordingly, maintenance payments received upfront
are deferred and recognized over the contract term.

Artificial Intelligence

The Company has begun to derive revenue from applications that incorporate artificial intelligence (Al) in the form of predetermined algorithms to provide important operating
information to the users of our systems. The revenue generated from these applications of Al consists of an annual application maintenance fee which will be recognized
ratably over the year, plus fees for the design, development, testing and incorporation of new algorithms into the system which will be recognized upon completion of each
deliverable.

Multiple Elements
Arrangements with customers may involve multiple elements including project revenue and maintenance services in our Intelligent Technology Systems business. Maintenance
will occur after the project is completed and may be provided on an extended-term basis or on an as-needed basis. In our consulting services business, multiple elements may

include any of the above four sources. Training and maintenance on software products may occur after the software product sale while other services may occur before or after
the software product sale and may not relate to the software product. Revenue recognition for multiple element arrangement is as follows:
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Each element is accounted for separately when each element has value to the customer on a standalone basis and there is Company specific objective evidence of selling price of
each deliverable. For revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables, the Company allocates the total customer arrangement to the separate units of accounting based on their
relative selling prices as determined by the price of the items when sold separately. Once the selling price is allocated, the revenue for each element is recognized using the
applicable criteria under GAAP as discussed above for elements sold in non-multiple element arrangements. A delivered item or items that do not qualify as a separate unit of
accounting within the arrangement are combined with the other applicable undelivered items within the arrangement. The allocation of arrangement consideration and the
recognition of revenue is then determined for those combined deliverables as a single unit of accounting. The Company sells its various services and software and hardware
products at established prices on a standalone basis which provides Company specific objective evidence of selling price for purposes of multiple element relative selling price
allocation. The Company only sells maintenance services or spare parts based on its established rates after it has completed a system integration project for a customer. The
customer is not required to purchase maintenance services. All elements in multiple element arrangements with Company customers qualify as separate units of account for
revenue recognition purposes.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenues represent billings or cash received in excess of revenue recognizable on service agreements that are not accounted for under the percentage of completion
method.

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company is following the guidance of ASC 606-10-55-296 and 297 for disaggregation of revenue. Accordingly, revenue has been disaggregated according to the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows. We are providing qualitative and quantitative disclosures.

Qualitative:

1. We have four distinct revenue sources:
a. Turnkey, engineered projects;
b. Associated maintenance and support services;
c. Licensing and professional services related to auditing of data center assets:
d. Predetermined algorithms to provide important operating information to the users of our systems.
2. We currently operate in North America including the USA, Mexico and Canada.
3. Our customers include rail transportation, commercial, petrochemical, government, banking and IT suppliers.
4. Our contracts are fixed price and fall into two duration types:
a. Turnkey engineered projects and professional service contracts that are less than 1 year in duration and are typically two to three months in length; and
b. Maintenance and support contracts ranging from one to five years in length.
5. Transfer of goods and services are over time.
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Quantitative:
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2020
Artificial

Segments Rail C cial Petr I Government Banking IT Suppliers  Intelligence Total
Primary Geographical Markets
North America $ 1,631,891 $ 52,552 $ $ 20,221 $ 96,869 $ 2385 § 178224 § 1,982,142
Major Goods and Service Lines
Turnkey Projects $ 1,332.577 $ (2,421) $ $ — 3 89,253 $ — $ 178224 $ 1,597,633
Maintenance & Support 299,314 54,973 20,221 7,616 — — 382,124
Data Center Auditing Services — — — — _ _ _
Software License — — — — 2,385 — 2,385

$ 1,631,891 § 52,552 $ $ 20,221 $ 96.869 $ 2385 § 178224 § 1,982,142
Timing of Revenue Recognition
Goods transferred over time $ 1,332,577 $ 2,421) $ $ — $ 89,253 $ 2,385 $ 178,224 $ 1,600,018
Services transferred over time 299,314 54,973 20,221 7,616 — — 382,124

$ 1,631,891 § 52,552 $ $ 20,221 $ 96,869 $ 2,385 § 178,224 § 1,982,142
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For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

Segments Rail C cial  Petroch |l  Government Banking IT Suppliers Total

Primary Geographical Markets

North America $ 805,135 § 169,010 $ 20,621 $ 53,575 § 217,251 § 80,213 1,345,805

Major Goods and Service Lines

Turnkey Projects $ 552,561 $ 169,010 $ 12,815 $ 33354 § 217,251 $ — 984,991

Maintenance & Support 252,574 — 7,806 20,221 — — 280,601

Data Center Auditing Services — — — — — 80,213 80,213

Software License _ _ — — _ _ —
$ 805,135 § 169,010 $ 20,621 § 53,575 § 217,251 $ 80,213 1,345,805

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Goods transferred over time $ 552,561 $ 169,010 $ 12,815 § 33354 § 217,251 $ 80,213 1,065,204

Services transferred over time 252,574 — 7,806 20,221 — — 280,601
$ 805,135 § 169,010 $ 20,621 $ 53,575 § 217,251 § 80,213 1,345,805
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DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2020

(Unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020

Artificial

Segments Rail C cial Petrochemical Government Banking IT Suppliers Intelligence Total

Primary Geographical Markets

North America $ 2345149 § 126,887 § — 3 47,370 $ 140,988 § 134469 $ 178,224 § 2,973,087

Major Goods and Service Lines

Turnkey Projects $ 1,813,687 $ 6,202 § — 3 — $ 113,194 § — $ 178224 § 2,111,307

Maintenance & Support 531,462 120,685 — 47,370 27,794 — — 727,311

Data Center Auditing Services — — — — — 129,699 — 129,699

Software License — — — — — 4,770 _ 4.770
$ 2,345,149 § 126,887 $ — 3 47,370 $ 140,988 $ 134469 $ 178,224 § 2,973,087

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Goods transferred over time $ 1,813,687 $ 6,202 $ — 3 — $ 113,194 $ 134,469 $ 178,224 $ 2,245,776

Services transferred over time 531,462 120,685 — 47,370 27,794 — — 727,311
$ 2,345,149 § 126,887 $ — 3 47,370 $ 140,988 $ 134469 $ 178,224 § 2,973,087
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DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2020
(Unaudited)

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

Segments Rail C cial  Petroch |l  Government Banking IT Suppliers Total

Primary Geographical Markets

North America $ 4476933 $ 188,931 § 54973 § 97,068 $ 687,599 § 192,382 5,697,886

Major Goods and Service Lines

Turnkey Projects $ 3942219 $ 186,734 § 39,361 $ 56,626 $ 678,489 § — 4,903,429

Maintenance & Support 534,714 2,197 15,612 40,442 9,110 — 602,075

Data Center Auditing Services — — — — — 144,982 144,982

Software License _ _ — — — 47,400 47.400
$ 4476933 $ 188,931 § 54973 § 97,068 $ 687,599 § 192,382 5,697,886

Timing of Revenue Recognition

Goods transferred over time $ 3942219 $ 186,734 § 39,361 $ 56,626 $ 678,489 § 192,382 5,095,811

Services transferred over time 534,714 2,197 15,612 40,442 9,110 — 602,075
$ 4476933 $ 188,931 § 54973 § 97,068 $ 687,599 § 192,382 5,697,886
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation.

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q and other reports filed by Duos Technologies Group, Inc. (the “duostech Group”), through its operating subsidiaries, Duos Technologies,
Inc. (“duostech”) and TrueVue360, Inc (“TrueVue360”, duostech Group and duostech, collectively the “Company” “we”, “our”, and “us”) from time to time with the U.S.

Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) contain or may contain forward-looking statements and information that are based upon beliefs of, and information
currently available to, the Company’s management as well as estimates and assumptions made by Company’s management. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance
on these forward-looking statements, which are only predictions and speak only as of the date hereof. When used in the filings, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,”
“expect,” “future,” “intend,” “plan,” or the negative of these terms and similar expressions as they relate to the Company or the Company’s management identify forward-
looking statements. Such statements reflect the current view of the Company with respect to future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and other factors,
including the risks contained in the “Risk Factors” section of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, relating to the
Company’s industry, the Company’s operations and results of operations, and any businesses that the Company may acquire. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ significantly from those anticipated, believed, estimated, expected,
intended, or planned.

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, the Company cannot guarantee future results, levels of
activity, performance, or achievements. Except as required by applicable law, including the securities laws of the United States, the Company does not intend to update any of
the forward-looking statements to conform these statements to actual results.

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require us to
make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable based upon information
available to us at the time that these estimates, judgments and assumptions are made. These estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the periods presented. Our financial statements would be
affected to the extent there are material differences between these estimates and actual results. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by GAAP and does not require management s judgment in its application. There are also areas in which management s judgment in selecting any available
alternative would not produce a materially different result. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this report.

Overview

Duos Technologies Group, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Florida on May 31, 1994 under the original name of Information Systems Associates, Inc. (“ISA”).
Initially, our business operations consisted of consulting services for asset management of large corporate data centers and the development and licensing of information
technology (“IT”) asset management software. In late 2014, ISA entered negotiations with Duos Technologies, Inc. (“duostech”), for the purposes of executing a reverse
triangular merger. This transaction was completed on April 1, 2015, whereby duostech became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. duostech was incorporated under
the laws of Florida on November 30, 1990 for design, development and deployment of proprietary technology applications and turn-key engineered systems. The Company,
based in Jacksonville, Florida, employs approximately 51 people and is a technology and software applications company with a strong portfolio of intellectual property. The
Company’s core competencies, including advanced intelligent technologies, are delivered through its proprietary integrated enterprise command and control platform,
centraco®.

The Company provides a broad range of sophisticated intelligent technology solutions with an emphasis on security, inspection and operations for critical infrastructure within a
variety of industries including transportation, retail, law enforcement, oil, gas and utilities sectors. In January 2019, the Company launched a dedicated Artificial Intelligence
program through its wholly owned subsidiary TrueVue360, Inc., marketing its services and solutions under the brand name truevue360. The Company is committed to adding
significant focus on the development, marketing and deployment of advanced convolutional neural network-based Artificial Intelligence (“Al”), Deep Machine Learning and
Advanced Algorithms applications. While TrueVue360 will chiefly support DTI’s business growth, it will also develop and market its significant library of Al applications
following a stand-alone business development strategy. Accordingly, our business is now operating in two equally important business units which complement each other and
provide comprehensive turnkey, end-to-end, solutions to our customers.
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The Company’s growth strategy includes expansion of its technology base through organic development efforts, strategic partnerships, and through strategic acquisitions. The
Company provides its broad range of technology solutions with an emphasis on mission critical security, inspection and operations within the rail transportation, commercial,
petrochemical, government, and banking sectors. The Company also offers professional and consulting services for large data centers.

Specifically, based upon the current and anticipated business growth, the Company is investing in resources to focus on execution within its target markets, including but not
limited to rail, distribution centers and security. We continue to evaluate key requirements within those markets and add development resources to allow us to compete for
additional projects to drive additional revenue growth.

In the Consulting Services area, the Company is now deploying its dcVue software which replaced OSPI.OSPI was used by Duos’ consulting auditing teams until last year.
dcVue is based upon the Company’s OSPI patent which was awarded in 2010. The Company offers dcVue available for license to our customers later this year as a licensed
software product.

Prospects and Outlook

Over the past several years, we have made substantial investments in product research and development and achieved significant milestones in the development of our
technology and turnkey solutions. We have made significant progress in penetrating the market with our proprietary technology solutions, specifically in the rail industry which
is currently undergoing a major shift in maintenance strategies. We believe that this shift will be a significant motivating factor for the industry’s use of our technologies.

Our business success in the immediate future will largely depend on the increased penetration into our target markets for our proprietary intelligent analytical technology
solutions.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no assurance can be provided that our product offerings will generate significant orders or maintain market acceptance.
Results of Operation

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial statements included in this report.

Comparison for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2019

The following table sets forth a modified version of our unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations that is used in the following discussions of our results of operations:

For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019
Revenue $ 1,982,142 $ 1,345,805
Cost of revenue 1,242,767 1,171,405
Gross profit 739,375 174,400
Operating expenses 2,166,431 2,123,565
Loss from operations (1,427,056)  (1,949,165)
Other income (expense) (38,833) (626)
Net loss $  (1,465,889) $ (1,949,791)
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Revenues

For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Revenues:

Technology systems $ 1,419409 $§ 984,991 44%

Technical support 382,124 280,601 36%

Consulting services 2,385 80,213 -97%

Al technologies 178,224 — 100%
Total revenue $ 1,982,142 $ 1,345,805 47%

The increase in technology system revenues is due to a large project executed during the second quarter of 2020. Technical support revenues were higher in the quarter as the
result of new service support. The renewals of existing contracts have somewhat offset this impact and we believe that a shift to the next generation of technology systems,
which are currently being installed, will have a positive impact going forward. The maintenance and technical support revenues are driven by successful completion on projects
and represent services and support for those installations. The Company expects to continue the growth with new, long term recurring revenue from new customers which will

be coming on-line in the next several months.

We recorded a decrease in consulting services recorded in revenue for the second quarter. The current pandemic related to the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) has impacted
both expected receipt of awards and delays in execution due to travel and other restrictions. These delays will continue to impact the consulting services revenue portion of our

business, but the impact for the full year is uncertain at this time.

The Al technologies recorded their first quarter of revenue during the second quarter of 2020. The Company expects to continue the growth with new revenue from existing

customers which will be coming on-line in the next several months.

Cost of Revenues

For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Cost of revenues:

Technology systems $ 897,514 $§ 967,649 -7%

Technical support 234,754 156,341 50%

Consulting services — 47,415 -100%

Al technologies 110,499 — 100%
Total cost of revenues $ 1242767 § 1.171.405 6%

Cost of revenues on technology systems decreased and the overall gross margin was higher during the period compared to the equivalent period in 2019. This is due to a
continued focus on build costs and savings through efficiency. Cost of revenues increased on technical support is in line with the increase in revenue for technical support.

The consulting services recorded no cost of revenues in the second three months of 2020. The current pandemic related to the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) has impacted
both expected receipt of awards and delays in execution due to travel and other restrictions. These delays will impact the consulting services revenue portion of our business,

but the impact for the full year is uncertain at this time.

The Al technologies recorded their first quarter of cost of revenue during the second quarter of 2020. The Company expects to continue the growth with new revenue from

existing customers which will be coming on-line in the next several months.
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Gross Profit

For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019 % Change
Revenues $ 1,982,142 $ 1,345,805 47%
Cost of revenues 1,242,767 1,171,405 6%
Gross profit § 739375 § 174,400 324%

Overall Gross Profit was $739,375 or 37% of revenues compared to $174,400 or 13% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We
anticipate an increase in the overall gross margin for the full year reporting in 2020.

Operating Expenses

For the Three Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing $ 122,473 '$ 270,196 -55%

Engineering 352,970 289,986 22%

Research and development 149,566 487,738 -69%

Administration 1,023,947 872,972 17%

Al technologies 517,475 202,673 155%
Total operating expense $ 2166431 § 2,123,565 2%

Operating expenses were higher by 2% than the equivalent period in 2019 reflecting the increase in resources related to the Company’s anticipated growth. Research and
development expenses decreased due to a shift of personnel cost to the Al technologies department as a result of increased focus in this area. The increase in engineering during
the period is a result of additional staff added and resource tools expenditures. Sales and marketing expense decreased due to fluctuation in personnel. Administration expenses
increased mostly due to reclassing senior management from the individual departments to administration. Al technologies costs were higher as the result of additional growth in
this area.

Loss From Operations

The loss from operations for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $1,427,056 and $1,949,165 loss from operations for the same period in 2019. The decrease in losses
from operations are the result of higher revenues and gross margins for the period together with an increase in operating expenses. The losses are expected to be temporary but
with the uncertainty of the current Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) crisis they are unlikely to be offset for the full year as the anticipated growth in business from new contracts is
expected to be delayed by at least six months.

Other Income/Expense

Interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2020 was $58,243 versus interest expense of $3,692 in the equivalent period in 2019. The increase is mainly due to the non-
cash debt discount amortization. Interest income will be more significant during the year due to the large amount of cash on deposit as a result of the 2020 Offering. Interest
income from cash on deposit was $19,410 at June 30, 2020 versus $3,066 in the same period of 2019.

Net Loss

The net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $1,465,889 and $1,949,791, respectively. The 25% decrease in net loss was mostly attributed to the increase
in revenues for the same period. Net loss per common share was $0.42 and $1.09 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Comparison for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2019

The following table sets forth a modified version of our unaudited Consolidated Statements of Operations that is used in the following discussions of our results of operations:

For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020 2019
Revenue $ 2,973,087 $ 5,697,886
Cost of revenue 2,130,847 3,392,642
Gross profit 842,240 2,305,244
Operating expenses 4,357,211 4,207,960
Loss from operations (3,514,971) (1,902,716)
Other income (expense) (97,967) (2,906)
Net loss $ (3,612,938) $(1,905,622)
Revenues
For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Revenues:

Projects $ 1,933,083 $ 4,903,429 -61%

Technical support 727,311 602,075 21%

Consulting services 134,469 192,382 -30%

Al technologies 178,224 — 100%
Total revenue $ 2,973,087 $ 5,697,886 _48%

The majority of the decrease in overall revenues for the quarter is due to slower than anticipated start to two contract awards by one customer pending resolution of certain terms
and conditions. One of these contracts has now been received. In addition, the current pandemic related to the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) has impacted both expected
receipt of awards and delays in execution due to travel and other restrictions. These delays have impacted the technology systems revenue portion of our business, but the
impact for the full year is uncertain at this time. The Company continues to make improvements in our project build and delivery process largely as a result of the investment in
the establishment of the Engineering and Operations center in 2018 which has shortened delivery times on major projects.

Technical support revenues were higher in the quarter as the result of a new service agreement with a current customer. The renewals of existing contracts have somewhat offset
this impact and we believe that a shift to the next generation of technology systems which are currently being installed will have a positive impact going forward. The technical
support revenues are driven by successful completion on projects and represent services and support for those installations. The Company expects to continue the growth with
new, long term recurring revenue from new customers which will be coming on-line in the next several months.

The Consulting services recorded a decrease in revenue in the six months ended June 30, 2020. The decrease in consulting is related to the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19)
which has impacted both expected receipt of awards and delays in execution due to travel and other restrictions.

Cost of Revenues

For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Cost of revenues:

Projects $ 1,479,058 $ 3,060,643 -52%

Technical support 469,030 261,665 79%

Consulting services 72,260 70,334 3%

Al technologies 110,499 — 100%
Total cost of revenues $ 2,130.847 $ 3,392,642 -37%
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Cost of revenues on projects decreased in line with the decrease in revenues but with the overall improvement in costs in revenues. The overall gross margin was positively
impacted during the period compared to the equivalent period in 2019 due to tighter cost controls on production of systems and the efficiencies gained through the
implementation of projects at the Operations and Engineering Center prior to customer deployment. This positive trend is expected to continue as the Company continues its
focus on reducing the costs of delivery and streamlining execution. Cost of revenues increased on technical support as a result of increase of staff to support the growth. The
consulting services costs of revenue were only slightly higher due to the proportion of the revenue from licensing. The Al technologies recorded their first quarter of cost of
revenue during the second quarter of 2020. The Company expects to continue the growth with new revenue from existing customers which will be coming on-line in the next
several months.

Gross Profit

For the Six Months Ended

June 30,
2020 2019 % Change
Revenues $ 2,973,087 $ 5,697,886 -48%
Cost of revenues 2,130,847 3,392,642 -37%
Gross profit $ 842,240 § 2,305,244 -63%

Gross Profit was $842,240 or 28% of revenues compared to $2,305,244 or 40% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The overall gross
margin was much lower during the period compared to the equivalent period in 2019 but due to a continued focus on build costs and savings through efficiency the overall
impact was mitigated. We previously reported significant increase in personnel in anticipation of increased execution and support requirements for the second half of 2020 and
management will continue to review pending orders to ensure appropriate staffing. As previously discussed, the implementation of ASC 606 covering revenue from contracts
with customers, can have a temporary impact on overall gross margin during previous reporting periods as certain costs are recognized ahead of revenues. The effects of this are
typically within a quarter and over the project cycle there is expected to be no material impact.

Operating Expenses

For the Six Months Ended
June 30,
2020 2019 % Change

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing $ 262,325 $ 520,620 -50%

Engineering 665,406 624,549 7%

Research and development 555,958 871,160 -36%

Administration 2,039,498 1,807,645 13%

Al technologies 834,024 383,986 117%
Total operating expense $ 4357211 $ 4,207,960 4%

Operating expenses were higher by 4% than the equivalent period in 2019 reflecting the increase in resources related to the Company’s anticipated growth. Sales and marketing
expense decreased due to fluctuation in personnel in addition to travel restrictions due to the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19). Research and development expenses decreased
due to personnel expenses transferred to the Al department. The increase in engineering during the period is a result of improved resourcing and tools necessary for increased
efficiencies going forward. Administration expenses increased mostly due to reclassing senior management from the individual departments to administration and one-time
expenses related to the equity fundraising and to the Company’s listing on the Nasdaq during the first quarter. Al technologies costs were higher as the result of additional
growth in this area and resources allocated from the research and development department.

Loss From Operations

The loss from operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $3,514,971 and the loss from operations for the same period in 2019 was $1,902,716. The 85% increase in
loss from operations was mostly due to the overall decrease in revenue for the period and lower than usual gross margin for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $127,175 and the interest expense for same period in 2019 was $6,313. The increase is mainly due to the non-cash
debt discount amortization.

Other Income

Other income for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $29,208 and $3,407, respectively. The increase in other income is due to a higher balance in the money
market banking account for the first six-month period in 2020.

Net Loss

The net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $3,612,938 and $1,905,622, respectively. The increase in net loss is mostly attributed to the overall decrease
in revenue for the period and lower than usual gross margin for the six-month period ending June 30, 2020. Net loss per common share was $1.16 and $1.14 for the six months
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2020, the Company has a working capital of $4,991,582 and a net loss of $3,612,938 for the six months ended June 30, 2020.

Cash Flows

The following table sets forth the major components of our statements of cash flows data for the periods presented:

June 30, June 30,
2020 2019
Net cash used in operating activities $ (3,152,753) $ (2,711,334)
Net cash used in investing activities (179,202) (226,549)
Net cash provided by financing activities 8,650,492 2,009,266

Net increase (decrease) in cash $ 5318537 $§ (928,617)

Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $3,152,753 and net cash used during the same period of 2019 was $2,711,334. The increase in
net cash used in operations for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was the result of higher expenditures related to current and future project execution in anticipation of new
projects. In addition, there are a number of changes in assets and liabilities compared to the previous period that added to the use of cash in operations. Notable changes were a
significant decrease in accounts payable and along with decrease in accrued expenses reflecting better availability of working capital as a result of the recent capital raise. In
addition, cash is being used to further development activities within our TrueVue360 subsidiary where there are no current offsetting revenues during this period.

Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were $179,202 and $226,549, respectively, representing a decrease in investments in
various fixed assets during the six months of 2020.

Net cash provided in financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $8,650,492 and for the same period of 2019 was $2,009,266. Cash flows provided in
financing activities during the six-month period in 2020 were primarily attributable to a significant capital raise undertaken during the period in conjunction with listing on the
Nasdaq Capital Market. Cash flows from financing activities during 2019 were primarily attributable to support of operations and repayment of one short term note and short-
term credit facilities offset by proceeds from a warrant exercise from which the Company derived cash proceeds.

Previously, we have funded our operations primarily through the sale of our equity (or equity linked) and debt securities. During 2020, we have funded our operations through a
combination of a recent capital raise, revenues generated, and cash received from ongoing project execution and associated maintenance revenues. As of August 11, 2020, we
had cash on hand of approximately $4,624,900. We have approximately $135,000 in monthly lease and other mandatory payments, not including payroll and ordinary expenses
which are due monthly.

On a long-term basis, our liquidity is dependent on continuation and expansion of operations and receipt of revenues. Our current capital and revenues are sufficient to fund
operations for at least the next 12 months. However, the Company cannot currently quantify the uncertainty related to the recent pandemic and its effects on the business in the
coming quarters.
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Demand for the products and services will be dependent on, among other things, continuing market acceptance of our products and services, the technology market in general,
and general economic conditions, which are cyclical in nature and are currently impacted by the Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19). In as much as a major portion of our activities
is the receipt of revenues from the sales of our products and services, our business operations may be adversely affected by this situation and potential for a prolonged recession
period and are considered to be a factor at present.

Liquidity

Under Accounting Standards Update, or ASU, 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements—Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40) (“ASC 205-40”), the Company has the
responsibility to evaluate whether conditions and/or events raise substantial doubt about its ability to meet its future financial obligations as they become due within one year
after the date that the financial statements are issued. As required by ASC 205-40, this evaluation shall initially not take into consideration the potential mitigating effects of
plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the financial statements are issued. Management has assessed the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in
accordance with the requirement of ASC 205-40.

As reflected in the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements, the Company had working capital of $4,991,582 and an accumulated deficit of $36,353,653 at
June 30, 2020. During the same period in 2019, the Company had negative working capital of $543,920 and an accumulated deficit of $32,175,455.

Upon completion of the 2020 Offering, management raised sufficient working capital to meet its needs for the next 12-months without the need to raise further capital. Since
the advent of the Covid-19 pandemic, he Company has experienced a significant slowdown in closing new projects due to cautious actions by current and potential clients. We
continue to be successful in identifying new business opportunities and are focused on re-establishing a backlog of projects. Most importantly, the Company’s success in
increasing its working capital surplus after receiving proceeds from the 2020 Offering of more than $8.1 million has given us the runway required to maintain our business
strategy overall. Management has been and continues to take actions including, but not limited to, elimination of certain costs that did not contribute to short term revenue, re-
aligning management with a focus on improving certain skill sets necessary to build growth and profitability and focusing product strategy on opportunities that are likely to
bear results in the relatively short term.

Management believes that we have eliminated the substantial doubt for the Company to continue as a going concern. We are executing the plan to grow our business and
achieve profitability without the requirement to raise additional capital for existing operations. The continuation of the Company as a going concern is dependent upon the
ability of the Company to continue executing the plan described above, generate sufficient revenue and to attain consistently profitable operations. Although the current
pandemic related to the Novel Coronavirus (Covid-19) has affected our operations, we have analyzed our cash flow under “stress test” conditions and have determined that we
have sufficient liquid assets on hand to maintain operations for at least 12 months from the date of this report.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no-off balance sheet contractual arrangements, as that term is defined in Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the accounting policies below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operations.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are stated at estimated net realizable value. Accounts receivable are comprised of balances due from customers net of estimated allowances for
uncollectible accounts. In determining the collections on the account, historical trends are evaluated, and specific customer issues are reviewed to arrive at appropriate

allowances. The Company reviews its accounts to estimate losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. Any required allowance is based on
specific analysis of past due accounts and also considers historical trends of write-offs. Past due status is based on how recently payments have been received from customers.
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Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718-10, “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options, restricted stock units, and employee stock
purchases based on estimated fair values.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718). This update is intended to reduce cost and complexity and to improve
financial reporting for share-based payments issued to non-employees (for example, service providers, external legal counsel, suppliers, etc.). The ASU expands the scope of
Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation, which currently only includes share-based payments issued to employees, to also include share-based payments issued to non-
employees for goods and services. Consequently, the accounting for share-based payments to non-employees and employees will be substantially aligned. This standard will be
effective for financial statements issued by public companies for the annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption of the standard is permitted.
Management implemented on January 1, 2019. The standard was applied in a retrospective approach for each period presented.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The most significant estimates in the accompanying unaudited
consolidated financial statements include the allowance on accounts receivable, valuation of deferred tax assets, valuation of intangible and other long-lived assets, estimates of
net contract revenues and the total estimated costs to determine progress towards contract completion, valuation of derivatives, valuation of warrants issued with debt, valuation
of beneficial conversion features in convertible debt and valuation of stock-based awards. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Not applicable.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

With the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)), as of the end of the period
covered by this Report. Based upon such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer have concluded that, as of the end of
such period, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the second quarter
ended June 30, 2020 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our operations in the normal course of business. We are currently not involved in any
litigation that we believe could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation
before or by any court, public board, government agency, self-regulatory organization or body pending or, to the knowledge of the executive officers of our Company or any of
our subsidiaries, threatened against or affecting our company, our common stock, any of our subsidiaries or of our companies or our subsidiaries’ officers or directors in their
capacities as such, in which an adverse decision could have a material adverse effect.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

We believe there are no changes that constitute material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 15, 2020.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
The Company issued 1,632 shares of common stock for services to the members of the board during the second quarter of 2020.

The above securities were issued in reliance on the exemption under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. These securities qualified for exemption under Section 4(a)(2) since
the issuance by us did not involve a public offering. The offerings were not “public offerings” as defined in 4(a)(2) due to the insubstantial number of persons involved in the
transactions, manner of the issuance and number of securities issued. We did not undertake an offering in which we sold a high number of securities to a high number of
investors. In addition, the investors had the necessary investment intent as required by Section 4(a)(2) since they agreed to and received securities bearing a legend stating that
such securities are restricted pursuant to Rule 144 of the Act. This restriction ensures that these securities would not be immediately redistributed into the market and therefore
not be part of a “public offering”. Based on an analysis of the above factors, we have met the requirements to qualify for exemption under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act
for these transactions.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

There has been no default in the payment of principal, interest, sinking or purchase fund installment, or any other material default, with respect to any indebtedness of the
Company.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable
Item 5. Other Information.

None
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Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit No. Description

10.1* Paycheck Protection Program Note, dated April 23, 2020, issued to BBVA USA

31.1* Certification by the Principal Executive Officer of Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)).
31.2% Certification by the Principal Financial Officer of Registrant pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a)).
32.1%* Certification by the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

BPMEE Certification by the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, there unto duly
authorized.

DUOS TECHNOLOGIES GROUP, INC.

Date: August 14, 2020 By: /s/ Gianni B. Arcaini

Gianni B. Arcaini
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: August 14, 2020 By: /s/ Adrian G. Goldfarb

Adrian G. Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer
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PROMISSORY NOTE

AL ¥ A
[/04:23:26201{04.23:2022 | /6783312652 | :
0 boxes above are for Lander's use enly and do not limit the applicability of this documen
Any item abova containing “** ** has been omitted duo to text langth limitations.

Borrower:  DUOS TECHNOLOGIES INC Lender: BBVA USA
6622 SOUTHPOINT DR S STE 310 : SBA PPP FL
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32216-6188 10060 SKINNER LAKE DR
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32246
8002391296
Principal Amount: $1,410,270.00 Date of Note: April 23, 2020

PROMISE TO PAY. DUOS TECHNOLOGIES INC ("Borrower") promisos to poy to BEVA USA (“Londer"), or ordor, in lawful money of the United
States of Amaorica, tho principal amount of One Million Four Hundred Ten Thousand Two Hundred Seventy & 00/100 Dollars ($1,410,270.00),
togothor with intarest on the unpaid principal balance from April 23, 2020, calculated as doscribed In thu "INTEREST CALCULATION METHOD"
paragraph using an intorost rate of 1,000% per annum based on a yoar of 360 days, until paid in full. The interost rata may change undor the
terms and conditions of tho "INTEREST AFTER DEFAULT" saction.

PAYMENT, Borrowor will pay this loan in 18 payments of $78,379.93 each payment. Borrowor's first payment is due November 23, 2020,
and all subsequent payments are duo on the same day of oach month after that. Borrower's final payment will bo due on April 23, 2022, and
will bo for ofl principal and all sccrued Intorost not yet pald. Payments include principal and interest. Unloss otherwise agroed or required by
opplicablo law, paynients will bo opplied fiest to interest, then to any foes or omounts for additional products or sarvices you ebtain in
connaction with this lonn (such as dabt i tion, credit i ce, warranty covarage, ote.) that are payable with or
s part of your payment, then to principal due, thon to any unpaid collection costs snd othar charges duc under this Note, with any romaining
amount to the outstanding principal halance. Borrower will pay Lender at Londor's address shown above or at such othor placo as Lender moy
designate in writing.

INTEREST CALCULATION METHOD. Intorest on this Note Is computod on a 366/360 basis; that is, by applying the ratio of the intorest rato
ovor a yoar of 360 dsys, multipliad by th outstanding principsl balance, multiplisd by tho actual numbor of deys the principal balanco is
outstanding. Al intarest poyabla under this Note is computed using this mathod. This caleulntion method results in & higher effective intarest
rata than the numoric Interost rato stated in this Note.

TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES. Borrower shall not directly or indirectly fincluding through its paront companylies), subsidioryfies), or
alliliatels)) transfer any prococds of the Loon 1o, nor use them for the benefit of. a Bank Alliliate, including using any of the proceeds of the
Loan to make any payment on {or with respect to) any loan or other dobt Irem ony Bank Affiliste. Borrower may request o list of Bank
Affiliates. which is updated on a quartarly basis, from tha Bank by contacting its relationship manager. The term “Bank Affiliate” means any
entity (1) that is directly or Indirectly (including ownorship through a trust and beneficlal ownership), controlling. controlled by, or under common
control with Londer (such an entity a “Contral Entity"), (2) in which a majority ol its directors, trustees. of genoral partners (or individuals
exercising similar functions) constituto a mofority of the persons holding any such offico with Londer or a Control Entity, {3) that Is sponsored
and advisod on a contractual basis by Lender or another Bank Affiliate, or (4) that is an investment {und for which Londer ar any other Bank
Affiliate sorves as an investment adviser. Ownership of fiftoon percent (15%) or more of the ownership interest in an entity shall bo deomed
control of the entity, and ench general partnar shall be desmed to have control over a partnership.

To the uxtent the proceeds of this Loan will be used to purchaso securitios (rogordloss of whether such purchase is conducted through BBVA
Securities Ing. or through another broker-dealer): (1) no securites of o Bank Affiliate (including those underwritten by a Bank Affiliate] shall be
purchased during an issuance or underwriting period, or in a way that would transfor Loan procesds to a Bank Affillate: (2} no securities shall be
purchosed where a Bank Alfiliate is selling them as principal (even in the open markat): and (3) Borrower agraes to promptly natify Lender of any
violation of this proviston,

Failure to comply with the foregning Tr ions with Aifiliates i at any time during the term of this Agreement, including renewals
and extensions thereof. shall ba deemed & Defoult and subject to the default provisions and remedies avoilable to Lendor. .

PREPAYMENT. Borrower may pay without penolty all or o portion of the amount owed earlior than it is due. Early payments will not, unloss
agrood to by Lendor in writing, tellove Borrower of Borrower's obligation to continue to make payments under the payment schedule. Rather,
sarly payments will reduco the principal balance due and may rosult in Borrower's making fewer paymonts. Borrower agrees not to send Lendor
poymenis markad “paid in full", "without recoursa®, or similor languago. |( Borrower sends such a paymont, Lender may accept it without
losing any of Lender's rights under this Noto, and Barrowor will remain obligated to pay any further amount owed to Lender, All writton
communications concerning disputod amounts, including any chack or other payment instrument that indicatos that tho payment constitutes
“payment in full" of the amount owad or thet is tandorad with other lions or or as full of a disputed amount must bo
mailed or delivered to; BBVA USA, SBA PPP FL, 10060 SKINNER LAKE DR, JACKSONVILLE, FL 32246.

LATE CHARGE. If a payment is 10 days or more late, Borrower will be charged 5,000% of tha regularly scheduled paymont.

_ INTEREST AFTER DEFAULT. Upon default, including failure to pay upon final maturity, the intoroest rato on this Note shall be increased to
1B.000% per annurn based on a year of 360 days. However, in no ovent will the intorest rate exceed the maximum interest rate limitations
under applicable law.
DEFAULT. Each of the following shall constitute an event of default {"Event of Default”] under this Note:

Paymont Default. Borrowar fails to make any payment when dus under this Noto.

Other Defaults, Borrowsr fails 1o comply with or to perform any other term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in this Note or in
any of the ralated documents or to comply with or {0 perform any term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in any other agfeement
betwesn Lunder and Borrower,

Default in Favor of Third Parties. Barrawer or any Grantar dofaults under any loan, extension of credit, security agreement, purchase or’
salos agreement, or any other agreement, in favor of any other creditor or person that may materially affect any of Borrower's property or
Borcowor's ability to repay this Note or perform Borrowor's obligations under this Note or any of the related documents.

False Any warranty, ion or statement made or furnished to Lender by Borrower or on Borrower's behalf under his
Note or the related documents is false or misleading In any materi! respect, either now or at the timg made or furnished or becoimes false
or misleading at any time thereafter.

The di ar of Bortowat's existence as a going business, the insolvency of Borrowar, the appaintment of a
receivar for any part of Borrower's property, any assignment for the henofit of creditors, any type of creditor workout, or the
of any under any or il laws by or against Borrower.

Craditor or Forfaiture i Ce of or forfoitura whether by judiciol proceading, self-halp,
repossession or any other method, by any croditor of Borrower or by any governinental agency against any callateral secuting the loan.
This includes a garnishmant of any of Barrower's accounts, including doposit accounts, with Lender. Howaver, this Event of Dofault shall
not apply il there is a good faith dispute by Borrower as to the validity or teasonablenoss of the claim which is the basis of the creditor or
forfoiture procesding and if Borrower gives Lender written notice of the craditor or forfeiture proceeding and deposits with Lender monies ar
n surety bond for the creditor or forfaiture procooding, in an amount determined by Lender, in its sole discretion, o5 being an adequata
reserve or bond for tho dispule.

Evonts Affocting Guarantor. Any of the proceding events accurs with raspect to any guarantor, endorser, surety, or accommodation party
of any of the indebtednoss or any guarantor, andorser, surety, or accommodation party dies or becomes incompetent, or ravokes or
disputos the validity of, or liability under, any guaranty of the indabtedness evidenced by this Note.

Ghange In Ownership. Any change in ownership of twenty-five percent [26%) or more of the common stock of Borrawer.

Adverso Change. A material adverse change occurs In Borrower's finncial condition, or Lendor beliaves the prospoct of payment or
performance of this Note is impaired.

Insecurity, Lender In good faith believes itself insecure,

EXHIBIT 10.1



PROMISSORY NOTE B
Loan No: 6783312652 (Continued) Page 2

UNITED STATES SMALL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION (SBA] GOVERNING LAW. When SBA is the holder, this Note will be interprated and
enforced under Foderal law, including SBA regulations. Lendor or SBA may use state or local procedures for filing papers, recording decuments,
glving notica, foreclosing liens, and othor purposes. By using such procedures, SBA does not walve any Federal immunity from state or local
control, penalty, tax, or liability, As to this Note, Borrower may nat claim o assert against SBA any local or stato law to deny any ebligation,
defeat any claim of SBA, or preempt Federal law.

LENDER'S RIGHTS. Upon default, Lender may declare the entire unpaid principal balance undor this Note and all accrued unpaid interest
immidiately due, and then Borrower will pay that amount.

ATTORNEYS' FEES; EXPENSES. Lendor may hiro or pay somsone olse to help collect this Noto if Borrowar doos not pay. Borrower will pay
Lender the amount of these costs and expansos, which includes, subject to any limits under applicablo law. Lendar's reasonablo attornoys' {oes
and Londer's lags! exponses whother or not there is @ lawsuit, Including rensonable attorneys' [mas and lagal expenses for bankruptey
proceedings (including efforts to modify or vacate any automatic stay or injunction). and appeals, 1} not prohibited by applicable law, Borrower
also will pay any eourt costs, in addition to all other sums provided by law.

JURY WAIVER, Lender and Barrower heroby waive the right to any jury trial in any action, proceeding, or countorclaim broughit by elthor Londer
or Borrower ageinst the other.

GOVERNING LAW. This Note will be governed by faderal law applicablo to Lendar and, to the extant not preempted by faderal law, the laws of
the State of Florlda withoul regard to its conflicts of law provisions. This Note has been accepted by Lender In the State of Florida.

DISHONORED [TEM FEE. Borrower will pay a foo fo Lender of $10.00 if Borrower mokes a payment on Borrower's loan and the check or
preautharized charge with which Borrowor pays is later dishonored.

RIGHT OF SETOFF. To the oxtont permittad by applicable law, Lender rasarves o right of sotoff In all Borrower's accounts with Lender (whethot

chocking. savings. or same other account). This includes all accounts Borrower holds Jointly with someone else snd all accounts Borrower moy

open in the future. Howaver, this doos not Include any IRA or Keogh accounts, or any trust accounts for which setoff would be prohibited by

law. Borrowar autharizes Landor, to the oxtent parmitted by applicabla law. to charge or setoff oll sums owing on the dobt against any and all
¢ such accounts.

COLLATERAL, This loan is unsecured.

TS. This Note the entire and of the partios os to tha matters set forth in this Note.  No
alteration or amendment of this Note shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party of parties sought to be bound hy the
alteration or amendment.

SEVERABILITY. If o court of competent jurisdiction finds any provi of this' Note to be illegal, invalid, or unenforcosble as to any
circumstance, that finding shall not make the offending provision illegal lid, or as 10 sny other It feasible, the
offending provision sholl be considorcd modified so that it bacomes legal, valid and enforceable. If the offending provision cannot be o
modifid, it shall be considored deloted from this Note. Unloss otherwise required by law, tho flegality, invalidity, or unenforceability of any
provision of this Note shall not affect the legality, validity or enforceabllity of any other provision of this Note.

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS, Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Note to the contrary: {alLender's Remadies. Lender also may exerciss
any and all remedies avoileble to Lendar's rights are cumulativa and moy bo exercised together, separately, and in ony arder: (b)No
Assignmont. Borrowor agrees not o assign any of Borrowar's rights or under this Nots; (c) The terms.

and "oorly payment” mean any payment that exceods the combined amount of interest, principal due. and chargos due as of the data Landor
receives that paymont, Tho smount of this excess will be spplied 1o the outstanding principol bolonce:(d}Final Payment. Borrower agrees that,
if Borrowar awas any Iate charges, colloction costs or other amounts under thia Nota or any relotad documents, Borrower's linal payment under
this Note will include all of these amounts, as well as all unpaid principal and accrued Intarest:(aLoan Facs, Borrower sqrecs that all loan fees
and othor prepaid finance charges are fully earned as of the date of the loan and will not be subjsct to refund upon early payment (whether
voluntary of &3 8 rosult of default).

ADDITIONAL EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Notwithstanding any other provisions herein to the contrary, each of tho following alsa shall be an Event of
Default hereunder:

(i} If the Borrower is an LLC, any changa In the ownership of twenty-five parcent {26%) or more of the membership interests in Borrower.

(i) Any material adverse change in the financial condition of any guarantor.

BUSINESS PURPOSE, The Borrower agress to use tho proceeds of this Note or Credit Agresment solely for business purposes and not any
personal, family or household purposo.

JURISDICTION. Any legal action or proceeding brought by Lander or Borrower against the other arising out of or relating 10 the loan evidenced
by this instrument {a *Proceading®] shall be instituted in tha fedural court for or the state court sitting in tho county whare Londer's office that
moda this loan is located. With respact to any Proceeding, each Borrower, to tho fullost extant permitted by Iaw: (i) waives any objections that
Borrowar may how or hareafter have basad on venue and/or forum non cenvaniens of any Proceeding In such court; and (i) Irravocably submits
1o tha jurisdietion of any such court in any Proceeding. Notwithetanding anything to the contrary herein, Lender may commence legal
proceedings or otherwise procend against Borrower in any other jurisdiction if determined by Lender to be nocossary in arder to fully anforce or
exercise any tight or remady of Lander reloting to this loan, including without limitotion, realization upon collateral that secures this laan.

OTHER COLLATERAL. Collataral securing other loans with Lendar may also secure this loan. To the oxtont collateral previously has been given
ta lendor by any person which may secure this loan, whether directly or indiractly, it is specifically agraed that, td the oxtent prohibited by law,
oll such eoliataral consisting of household goods will not securo this loan. In addition, it any collateral requires tha giving of a right of rescission
under Truth in Lending for this loan, such colloteral also will ot secure this loan unless and until all requirad notices of that right have been
given.

CHANGE IN INITIAL INTEREST RATE. If this Note evidonces an extension of credit with a variable rate and an initial or a current Interest rate or
Indox Is stated, the initial or current rate or index statud on the Note may differ from the actual rate or index dus to changes in tha rate or index
before closing.

CONSTRUCTION OF DOCUMENTS. In the event of any conflict within the provisions of this Note or between this Note and any other document
referred 1o or executed in connaction with this Note, and notwithstanding any other provision 1o the contrary in any of the forsgoing. the
provisions most (avorable te Lender shall control. The parties hereta agree and acknowledge that no rule of construction permitting or requiring
any claimod ambiguities to be rosolved against the drafting party shall be employed In the Interpretation of this Note or any of the other
documants referrad to or executed In connection with this Note.

ERRORS AND OMISSIONS, | agres that If deemed necessary by Lender or any agent closing the loan avidenced by this Noto ("the Loan"}.
Lender or the agent may correct and adjust this Note and any other documents oxecuted in connoction with the Loan {*Related Documants") on
my bohall, as if | wera making the corection or adjustment, in order to corroct clarical errore. A clerdeal orror is information in a document that
is missing or thot does not refloct accurately my agreament with Lendor at the tima the document was executed. If any such clerical orrors are
material changoes, | agree to fully cooperate In correcting such errors within 30 days of the date of mailing by Lender of a roquost to do that.
Any chango In the documents after thay ore signad to reflect a change in the agresmont of the partios Is an “alteration® or "amendment,” which
must bo in writing and signed by the party who will be bound by the change.

MINIMUM INTEREST RATE. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary containod in your note, cradit agreemont or other instrument (the "Note”)
your intarest rate or Pariodic Rato, will novor bo lower than tho logal minimum Interest rato or floor as doscribed in your Note. If your Noto
provides for o varinble rats tied to an index plus o margin, that rate moy, at times, total an amount less than the Minimum Interest Rate. In such
case your interest rate or Porlodic Rate will he the stated Minimum Interest Rate. In the svont that the sum of tha Index plus the margin is
greator than the Minimum Interest Rate, then this higher rato shall bo the interast rate or Porlodic Rata charged on your Nots.

REINSTATEMENT OF MINIMUM INTEREST RATE OR INDEX. If the Note provides for a minimum interest rate or minimum interest rata index
(somatimos refarred to as the floor'), and such minimum interest rate or minimum Interost rate index is waived or removed in conjunction with
Borrower antering into an interest rate swap teansaction, such minimum Interest tate shall automatically be reinstated if, and at the time, the
interest tato swap transaction is cancoeled or terminated for any teason.

SUCCESSOR INTERESTS. The tarms of this Nota shall be binding upon Borrower, and upon Borrowar's heirs, personal representatives,
successors and assigns, and shall inure to the benefit of Lender and its successors and assigns.

GENERAL PROVISIONS. It any part of this Noto cannot be enfurcud, this fact will not affoct the rest of tho Note. Borrower does not agrao or
intond to poy, ond Lender does not agres or intand to contract for, chargo, collect, take, reserve or rocoive (collectively referced to herein as
“charge or coflect®), ony amount in the nature of interest or In the natura of a fao for this loan, which would in any way ar event (including
domand, prepayment, or accelaration) cause Leénder to charge or colleet more for this loan than the maximum Lendor would be pormitted to
charge or collact by lecaral law or tho law of the State of Flarida {as applicablo). Any such excess interast or unauthorized fee shall, instead of
anything stated to the contrary, be applied first to reduce the princips! balance of this loan, and when the principal has baen paid in full, be
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:rofundod to Borrower. Lendar may delay or forgo enforcing any of its rights or remedios under this Note without losing them. Borrower and any
-other persan who signs, guarantees or endorses this Note, to (ho oxtont allowod by law, waive presentmaent, demand for payment, and notice of
dishonor. Upon any chango in tho terms of this Note. and unless otharwise expressly stated in writing, no party who signs this Note. whather
as maker. guatantor, aceommodntion maker or endorser, shall be released (rom liability. All such parties agreo that Londor may renow or oxtand
(ropoatedly and for any length of timo) this laan or relense any party of guarantor or collataral; or impair, fail to raalize upen or partoct Landor's
_security interast in tho collateral; and taka any other action desmed nacessary by Lender without the consent of or notice to anyone. All such
parties also ngros that Lender may modify this loan without the consent of or notice to anyano othar than the party with whom the modification
is modo. The obligations undar this Note are joint and several.

PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS NOTE, BORROWER READ AND UNDERSTOOD ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS NOTE. BORROWER AGREES TO THE
TERMS OF THE NOTE.

BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES RECEIPT OF A COMPLETED COPY OF THIS PROMISSORY NOTE:
BORROWER:

DUOS TEGHNOLOGIESINC

By:
QNNIE kS EF ACCOUNTING
DUOS TECHNOLOGIES INC

—
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gianni B. Arcaini, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Duos Technologies Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

<)

d)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly for the period in
which this quarterly report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a)

b)

all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Date: August 14, 2020 By: /s/ Gianni B. Arcaini

Gianni B. Arcaini
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Adrian G. Goldfarb, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Duos Technologies Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this quarterly report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this quarterly report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly for the period in
which this quarterly report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial
reporting.

Date: August 14, 2020 By: /s/ Adrian G. Goldfarb

Adrian G. Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report of Duos Technologies Group, Inc. (the “Company”), on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Gianni B. Arcaini, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.
1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) Such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 14, 2020 By:/s/ Gianni B. Arcaini
Gianni B. Arcaini
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Quarterly Report of Duos Technologies Group, Inc. (the “Company”’), on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Adrian G. Goldfarb, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.
1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec. 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) Such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2020, fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 14, 2020 By:/s/ Adrian G. Goldfarb
Adrian G. Goldfarb
Chief Financial Officer




